IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0056

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHAD JEROME WOLFCHILD,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**REVISED BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,  
Cascade County, the Honorable David J. Grubich, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

BRIAN OWENS  
Law Office of Brian Owens,  
703C 13th Street East, #610  
Whitefish, MT 59937  
Owenslaw187@gmail.com  
(406) 260-0172

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT  
AND APPELLANT

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
TAMMY K PLUBELL  
Bureau Chief  
Appellate Services Bureau  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

1. Whether the evidence was sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Wolfchild took items totaling more than \$1,500.00?

2. Whether two or more offenses must be distinctly plead in separate counts as part of the repeated commissions of a common scheme?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

An investigation was commenced based upon Scheels store surveillance video that showed Mr. Chad Wolfchild entering Scheels between June 6 and June 10, 2022, hiding items in his clothes and leaving the store without paying. (St.'s Ex. 1, at video files from June 6, 7, 9, and 10<sup>1</sup>; 10/02/2023 Bench Trial Transcript (Tr. Transcript at pg. 18, line 9-20.)) The State filed an affidavit charging one count of "Theft (common scheme), a felony in violation of M.C.A. §45-6-301(1)(a) and listing three offenses of theft on June 6, 2022 totaling \$736.92, June 7,

---

<sup>1</sup> The State's exhibit 1 includes 6 video files from June 6, 2022, 11 video files from June 7, 2022, 5 video files from June 9, 2022, and 5 video files from June 10, 2022. Instead of repeating St.'s Ex. In each citation, all further citations will cite directly to the month, day and video file number.

2022 totaling \$409.98, and June 9, 2022 totaling \$529.98. (D.C. Doc. 1). The State Information was filed in Cascade County charging one count against Mr. Wolfchild for Theft (Common Scheme), a Felony, in violation of M.C.A. §45-6-301(1)(a) for offenses of theft that occurred between June 6, 2022 and June 10, 2022, with a combined value over \$1,500.00. (D.C. Doc. 3.) Mr. Wolfchild was convicted at a bench trial and sentenced to a five (5) year deferred imposition of sentence, with credit for 203 days for time already served, and ordered to pay restitution of \$50.00 to First Security Pawn. (D.C. Doc. 58, Appellant Appendix A) Mr. Wolfchild timely appealed to this Court. (D.C. Doc. 61.).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Tysen Conley was employed at Great Falls Scheels in the Loss Prevention section (Tr. Transcript at pg. 15, line 17-22) and he became aware of Mr. Wolfchild during the period of June 6-10, 2022 (Tr. Transcript at pg. 18, line 9-16.) Tysen collected video surveillance footage from Scheels surveillance cameras during that time period. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 18, line 17-20.)

Tysen saw Mr. Wolfchild, on video, entering the Scheels store Monday June 6, around 11:00 a.m. with another female, Carla Cree Medicine<sup>2</sup>. (June 6 video File 1; Tr. Transcript at pg. 21, line 16-18.) Mr. Wolfchild and Carla went to the fly-fishing department and he picked up a fly-fishing line, the pair left and then came back, and he picked up another fly-fishing line. (June 6 video File 2; Tr. Transcript at pg. 21, line 20-25.) Mr. Wolfchild and Carla then left the area again and he is seen placing the items in his shorts. (June 6 video File 3; Tr. Transcript at pg. 22, line 2-5.) Mr. Wolfchild and Carla then exited the store without paying for any items. (June 6 video File 4; Tr. Transcript at pg. 22, line 8-12.) Mr. Wolfchild and Carla were seen on video outside the front of Scheels going to the stairs near the parking lot and Chad handed “either one or both of the fly-fishing products to . . .” Carla and they left the property. (June 6 video File 5; Tr. Transcript at pg. 22, line 13-18 and pg. 25, line 20-25.)

Mr. Wolfchild returned to Scheels the same day after 1:00 p.m. and he was alone. (June 6 video File 6; Tr. Transcript at pg. 25, line 5-

---

<sup>2</sup> Tysen Conley later identifies the female as Carla Cree Medicine (Tr. Transcript at pg.23, line 5-6.)

13.) Mr. Wolfchild walks to the archery department and selects two arrow rests. (June 6 video File 7; Tr. Transcript at pg. 26, line 9-13.) Mr. Wolfchild then walks to another area and places the items in his shorts. (June 6 video File 8; Tr. Transcript at pg. 26, line 14-17.) Tysen Conley reviewed the video and said on direct that Mr. Wolfchild exited the store and did not pay for any items. (June 6 video File 9; Tr. Transcript at pg. 28, line 7-9.)

Tyson then saw Mr. Wolfchild on video surveillance for a third time on June 6, around 6:00 p.m. and Mr. Wolfchild was alone. (June 6 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 29, line 9-17.) Mr. Wolfchild got in line to return merchandise he brought into the store, which were two arrow rests and two fishing line boxes. (June 6 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 30, line 3-9.) Mr. Wolfchild received a gift card for store credit in the amount of \$736.92 for the value of the four items he returned. (June 6 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 33, line 2-14.)

The next day, June 7, Mr. Wolfchild returned alone to the store and was seen on video surveillance by Tysen at one of the front registers trying to purchase an item, it appeared his credit cards were declined, and he left the store. (June 7 video File 7; Tr. Transcript at pg.

33, line 18-25 and pg. 34, line 1-8.) Surveillance footage with Mr. Wolfchild on June 7 was later reviewed showing Mr. Wolfchild prior to him trying to purchase an item and leaving the store. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 34, line 9-12.) Tysen stated Mr. Wolfchild picked up a fishing line. (June 7 video File 2; Tr. Transcript at pg. 43, line 13-15.) Tysen describes the archery department in the surveillance and Mr. Wolfchild picking up a Mathews arrow rest. (June 7 video File 4; Tr. Transcript at pg. 43, line 19-25.) Tysen testified Mr. Wolfchild went into the store food prep area and had two items in his hand and when he came out of the area, he did not have the items in his hand. (June 7 video File 5 and 6; Tr. Transcript at pg. 36, line 18-25.) Tysen did see an item in his hand that was referred to as the “unknown item” that he attempted to purchase but his credit cards were declined. (June 7 video File 6; Tr. Transcript at pg. 45, line 19-20.) On June 7, 2022, Tysen did not see Mr. Wolfchild conceal any items. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 77, line 16-19.) Tysen stated the area was searched later and no items were found. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 37, line 1-5.) Mr. Wolfchild then went to purchase the “unknown item” but was unable to and he left. (June 7 video File 7 and 8; Tr. Transcript at pg. 37, line 12-14.)

When Mr. Wolfchild exited Scheels he was not holding any items (June 7 video File 8; Tr. Transcript at pg. 77, line 9-15.) Mr. Wolfchild met Carla outside, they were walking together in the video, there is space between them, and there is no hand-to-hand transfer of any item between them. (June 7 video File 9; Tr. Transcript at pg. 79-80, line 17-2.) Carla was walking with an aluminum can in her right hand and a handbag slung over her left shoulder. (June 7 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 82, line 12-19.) A significant portion of the video shows Carla walking to the left of Mr. Wolfchild and holding a can of something in her right hand. (June 7 video File 9; Tr. Transcript at pg. 75, line 2-10.) There was no transfer of items that occurred while the two were on the steps. (June 7 video File 9; Tr. Transcript at pg. 76, line 6-9.) Mr. Wolfchild and Carla crossed 13th Street South and there was no transfer of any Scheels items seen. (June 7 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 84, line 1-8.) The video does not show an item going from Mr. Wolfchild to Carla's hand or from Mr. Wolfchild to Carla's handbag, and the surveillance from June 7th does not show Mr. Wolfchild concealing an item inside Scheels. (June 7 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 84-85, line 15-2.)

Carla goes into the pawn shop and Mr. Wolfchild walks by the pawn shop to the other end of the building. (June 7 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 48, line 18-21.) Shawn Rate is the Assistant Manager of First Security Pawn, and was present during the transaction on June 7, 2022, when Carla entered the store. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 96, line 5-15.) Shawn reviewed State's Exhibit 14 and describe it as a "pawn ticket" for the sell by Carla of a Mathews arrow rest to the pawn shop. (State's Exhibit 14; Tr. Transcript at pg. 96-97, line 16-1.) Shawn noticed Carla entered the store alone, (Tr. Transcript at pg. 99, line 1-4.), Shawn identified her with her Montana Tribal Identification card, and she pawned the Mathews arrow rest. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 97-98, line 18-1.) Carla stayed in the pawn shop for about 20 minutes and came out with the pawn shop receipt that she signed selling the Mathews arrow rest. (State's Exhibit 14, June 7 video File 11; Tr. Transcript at pg. 51, line 14-22.)

Mr. Wolfchild was recorded returning to Scheels on June 9, 2022, through the mall entrance on the escalator. (June 9 video File 1; Tr. Transcript at pg. 56, line 3-8.) Mr. Wolfchild goes to the archery department and picks up two arrow rests. (June 9 video File 2; Tr.

Transcript at pg. 56, line 9-17.) Mr. Wolfchild then goes to the fly-fishing department with the arrow rests, he picks up a fishing line and puts it down then moves on. (June 9 video File 3; Tr. Transcript at pg. 56-57, line 21-6.) Mr. Wolfchild goes to another area of the fishing department and Tysen states Mr. Wolfchild is “concealing the item down – items down his pants”. (June 9 video File 5; Tr. Transcript at pg. 57, line 7-12.) Mr. Wolfchild then leaves Scheels. (June 9 video File 6; Tr. Transcript at pg. 57, line 19-25.)

On June 10, 2022, Carla Cree Medicine enters Scheels and Mr. Wolfchild enters Scheels after her. (June 10 video File 1; Tr. Transcript at pg. 59, line 3-17.) Carla went to the cash register to return Mathews and Epsilon arrow rests, and a box of fly line. (June 10 video File 2; Tr. Transcript at pg. 60, line 2-5.) While Carla was returning her items Mr. Wolfchild was walking around the store, a manager went to assist Carla and was slowing the return so the police department could arrive. (June 10 video File 2; Tr. Transcript at pg. 63, line 11-23.) Carla was denied a return of the items, so she left Scheels with the items. (June 10 video File 3; Tr. Transcript at pg. 62, line 1-4.) Mr. Wolfchild left after Carla, and went to the staircase in front of the store when Great Falls Police

officers stopped them. (June 10 video File 3; Tr. Transcript at pg. 62, line 10-15.) The value of the two arrow rests and box of fly line that Carla was in possession of and tried to return is \$529.98. (Tr. Transcript at pg. 86, line 3-10.) Carla Cree Medicine entered Scheels with those items, went directly to the return counter, and was the only person who was in possession of those items. (June 10 video File 2; Tr. Transcript at pg. 86-87, line 13-35.)

The value of the items on June 6, 2022 (two boxes of fly line and two arrow rests) is \$736.92. (State's Exhibit 13; Tr. Transcript at pg. 91-92, line 24-2.) The value of items on June 7, 2022, that were alleged to be taken by Mr. Wolfchild (one arrow rest and one fly line box) is \$408.99 (Tr. Transcript at pg. 93, line 4-6.) The value of items on June 9, 2022 (Mathews and Epsilon arrow rests) is \$529.98 (State's Exhibit 13; Tr. Transcript at pg. 93, line 7-15.) The total value of items in the possession of Mr. Wolfchild and Carla Cree Medicine for the three days is \$1,675.89. (State's Exhibit 13; Tr. Transcript at pg. 93, line 16-25.)

### **STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

This Court conducts a de novo review of whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction. *State v. Christensen*, 2020 MT 237, ¶ 11,

401 Mont. 247, 472 P.3d 622. This Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and determines whether a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Christensen*, ¶ 11.

This Court can address issues for the first time on appeal invoking a plain error review on claims that “implicate a criminal defendant’s fundamental constitutional rights when failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings . . .” *Christensen*, ¶ 12.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mr. Wolfchild admitted to stealing certain items when he was interviewed by police. However, he never admitted to stealing the items in Carla’s possession that she attempted to return, which were two arrow rests, and a fishing line valued at \$529.98. The items Mr. Wolfchild stole were identified as two fishing lines and two arrow rests (valued at \$736.92) on June 6th, and two arrow rests on June 9th (valued at \$529.98). The total value of those items is \$1,266.90. Carla had sole possession of the items she attempted to return. Mr. Wolfchild

was found guilty of theft of items in an amount greater than \$1,500.00 and 3 of those items were in Carla's possession.

The State failed to charge each offense separately and charged all three events as one theft by common scheme. Individually each theft is less than \$1,500.00. Mr. Wolfchild must be found guilty of all three offenses to reach an amount greater than \$1,500.00 required for felony theft. By charging each offense as one count of theft by "common scheme" it violated Mr. Wolfchild's due process rights and resulted in a lack of fundamental fairness at trial. This denied the possibility that Mr. Wolfchild could have been found guilty of one or two offenses, which would have resulted in a misdemeanor conviction.

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. Whether the evidence was sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Wolfchild took items totaling more than \$1,500.00?**

To establish the charge of felony theft by common scheme the State must prove Mr. Wolfchild stole \$1,500.00 or more by a series of acts or omissions to accomplish a single criminal objective. Mont. Code Ann. §45-6-301(1)(a). Section 45-6-301(1)(a) states: "A person commits the offense of theft when the person purposely or knowingly obtains or

exerts unauthorized control over property of the owner and: (a) has the purpose of depriving the owner of the property . . . .” A common scheme is “a series of acts or omissions resulting in a pecuniary loss to the victim of at least \$1,500, or \$1,500 in value, motivated by a purpose to accomplish a single criminal objective or by a common purpose or plan that results in the repeated commission of the same offense or that affects the same person or the same persons or the property of the same person or persons.” Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101 (8). “A fundamental principle of the criminal justice system is that the State must prove each element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Laird*, 2019 MT 198, ¶ 59, 397 Mont. 29, 447 P.3d 416. “The value of the property taken is an essential element of the offense” the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt in a felony theft case. *State v. Martin*, 2001 MT 83, ¶ 60, 305 Mont. 123, 23 P.3d 216. (citing *State v. Price*, 2002 MT 284, 312 Mont. 458, 59 P.3d 1122; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 363-64, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970)).

Here, the State has not presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Wolfchild committed a theft on June 7, 2022, that would result in an amount

above \$1,500 as a common scheme. Mr. Wolfchild entered the store on June 7, 2022, and was seen picking up a fishing line and an arrow rest on that day. (June 7 video Files 2 & 4; Tr. Transcript pg. 43, lines 13-15 & 19-25.) Tysen stated Mr. Wolfchild left the food prep area with no fishing line or arrow rest, but Mr. Wolfchild did have another item in his hand that Mr. Wolfchild took to the register to purchase. (June 7 video Files 6, 7, & 8; Tr. Transcript at pg. 36, line 18-25, pg. 37, line 12-14.) Tysen did not see Mr. Wolfchild conceal any items and Mr. Wolfchild was not holding any items when he left Scheels. Carla and Mr. Wolfchild walked to a pawn shop, however there is no video showing any item going from Mr. Wolfchild to Carla on the way to the pawn shop. (June 7 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 84-85, line 15-2.) Carla went into the pawn shop on her own and sold an arrow rest to the pawn shop, providing her identification, and signing the “pawn ticket.” (June 7 video File 10; Tr. Transcript at pg. 48, line 18-21, pg. 96-97, line 16-1.) Carla received payment for the item and was seen exiting the pawn shop with the pawn ticket, after Mr. Wolfchild had already left. (June 7 video File 11; Tr. Transcript at pg. 56, line 3-8).

Carla then entered Scheels by herself on June 10, 2022, with two arrow rests and a fishing line in her sole possession and approached the cash register to return those items. (June 10 video File 1 & 2; Tr. Transcript at pg. 59, line 3-17, and pg. 60, line 2-5.) The value of the items in Carla's possession was \$529.98.

Mr. Wolfchild was not seen concealing or leaving Scheels on June 7, 2022, with any item from the store. The testimony was that Mr. Wolfchild never handed anything to Carla on the walk to the pawn shop. Carla entered the pawn shop on her own and sold an item to the pawn shop and received a pawn ticket for the transaction. Carla was in Scheels on at least one prior occasion that is known and was looking at items in the fishing and archery departments. Carla had the opportunity to take items from Scheels remove them from the store and attempt to return them and sell them to the pawn shop.

**II. Whether two or more offenses must be distinctly pled in separate counts as part of the repeated commissions of an alleged felony theft by common scheme?**

This issue was not raised during the trial; however, this Court can invoke a plain error review on appeal for claims that "implicate a criminal defendant's fundamental constitutional rights when failing to

review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings . . .” *Christensen*, ¶ 12. The State, in failing to charge each offense separately created a miscarriage of justice and raises the question of fundamental fairness in the trial and proceedings. The State relied on a single charge by common scheme. In this case Mr. Wolfchild could have been found guilty of one or two charges only, resulting in a misdemeanor offense and sentence. This question does implicate his right to due process and would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice and question the fundamental fairness of the trial.

The Legislature created certain offenses that could result in a common scheme, if the State can prove the common scheme elements necessary to enhance a penalty. *State v. Rowe*, 2024 MT 37 ¶ 20, 415 Mont. 280, 543 P.3d 614. (See §§ 45-6-301(7)(b)(ii), 45-6-309(4)(c), 45-6-312(2), 45-6-316(3)(c), 45-6-317(2)(c), 45-6-325(4)(c), 45-6-341(2), 45-7-210(2)(b), M.C.A. In *Rowe*, the State chose to charge a single count of sexual assault<sup>3</sup> by common scheme to reach a conviction, even though it

---

<sup>3</sup> *State v. Rowe*, held the common scheme of sexual assault was a fictional charge by the State. However, the portions of *Rowe* that are relevant to the present matter demonstrate the Court’s view of a common scheme charge.

could have charged three separate counts of sexual assault by common scheme. *Rowe* at ¶ 22. This Court stated, “[e]ven when set forth within the definition of a statutory offense, a “common scheme” offense still requires proof of the elements of each “repeated commission” of the base offense. *Rowe* at ¶ 22; *See* § 45-2-101(8), M.C.A. (“common scheme” definition). The State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every element of each offense, charged and uncharged, and prove the offenses meet the elements of a common scheme. Therefore, each recurring commission of an offense as the basis for an allegation of a “common scheme” must be specifically pled in individual counts. *Rowe* at ¶ 22. In this case the State failed to “specifically plead” three individual counts for “each recurring commission of an offense” in the affidavit and information. (D.C. Doc. 1 and 3). This denied Mr. Wolfchild his due process rights.

In *State v. Cazier*, Cazier was charged by an amended information of assault with a weapon, common scheme, a felony. *State v. Cazier*, 2019 MT 259 ¶18. In *Cazier*, the State relied on three offenses of assault with a weapon to allege the “common scheme” element and this Court stated, “even assuming the use of “common scheme” in the title of

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