**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**

No. DA 24-0056

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHAD JEROME WOLFCHILD,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,  
Cascade County, The Honorable David Grubich, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
CARRIE GARBER  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
carrie.garber@mt.gov

BRIAN OWENS  
Law Office of Brian Owens  
703C 13th Street East #610  
Whitefish, MT 59937

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT  
AND APPELLANT

JOSHUA RACKI

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Officer Wavra testified that when he interviewed Wolfchild, Wolfchild admitted the reason he had repeatedly stolen merchandise from Scheels was because he had no money and he was trying to obtain the funds to get his car out of impound, and Wolfchild does not dispute this on appeal. Wolfchild also does not dispute that he committed thefts on June 6 and June 9, 2022, that were clearly captured by video surveillance, nor does he dispute that the total value of the items he stole on those two days was \$1266.90. The only theft that Wolfchild challenges is the theft on June 7, 2022, involving an arrow rest and a box of fishing line with a

---

<sup>2</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

total value of \$408.99, and which relates exclusively to the items that Cree Medicine pawned on June 7 (an arrow rest) and attempted to return to Scheels for a refund on June 10 (two arrow rests and a box of fishing line). Wolfchild argues that, because Cree Medicine had been in Scheels at least once prior to June 10, she had the opportunity to steal the items that she pawned and attempted to return herself. Wolfchild's assertion that the evidence presented at trial could have equally resulted in a different outcome, i.e., that Cree Medicine stole all the items she pawned and attempted to return, is immaterial to this Court's analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence against him.

The totality of the evidence presented at trial, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, was sufficient for a rational trier of fact to find Wolfchild guilty of all the essential elements of the offense of felony theft by common scheme.

For the first time on appeal, Wolfchild argues that the State was required to charge him with each predicate offense included in the common scheme as separate misdemeanors, and, in failing to do so, the State caused a miscarriage of justice and deprived him of fundamental fairness in his criminal proceedings. His assertion, however, completely ignores the plain statutory language of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-6-301(8), which expressly allows the aggregation of the values of individual thefts committed pursuant to a common scheme. Moreover, this Court

has long held that when the facts support a possible charge of more than one crime, the decision of which crime is charged is solely a matter of prosecutorial discretion.

Importantly, in its charging documents the State specifically pled each theft making up the common scheme. And the State proved each discrete theft beyond a reasonable doubt. The State did not deny Wolfchild due process, and Wolfchild cannot establish that plain error review of his claim is warranted.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. Standard of review**

This Court reviews claims of insufficient evidence de novo by viewing “the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution to determine whether a rational trier of fact could have found all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Burnett*, 2022 MT 10, ¶ 15, 407 Mont. 189, 502 P.3d 703 (citing *State v. Fleming*, 2019 MT 237, ¶ 9, 397 Mont. 345, 449 P.3d 1234).

When this Court reviews unpreserved claims of error, it employs the plain error doctrine sparingly, on a case-by-case-basis, and considers the totality of circumstances of each case. *State v. George*, 2020 MT 56, ¶ 5, 399 Mont. 173, 459 P.3d 854 (citations omitted). It is not enough for a party seeking review of an

unpreserved issue under the plain error doctrine to simply request that this Court review it. *Id.* The party seeking plain error review bears the burden of firmly convincing this Court that the claimed error “implicates a fundamental right and that such review is necessary to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice or that failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process.” *Id.*

**II. Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, the State proved the elements of felony theft by common scheme beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Wolfchild plainly admits on appeal that he stole merchandise on June 6 and June 9, 2022, valued at \$1,266.90, and that those thefts were fully captured on surveillance footage. (Appellant’s Br. at 10.) Additionally, Wolfchild does not contest that his purpose in stealing the items, which he even admitted to, was to try to obtain money because he was broke and he needed to get his vehicle out of impound. The only portion of the common scheme for which Wolfchild claims the evidence was insufficient is the theft on June 7 of the two items valued at \$408.99. At trial however, the State presented overwhelming evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, that proved the June 7 portion of the common scheme beyond a reasonable doubt.

The essential elements of the offense of theft are set forth in Mont. Code

Ann. § 45-6-301:

(1) A person commits the offense of theft when the person purposely or knowingly obtains or exerts unauthorized control over property of the owner and:

(a) has the purpose of depriving the owner of the property;

(b) purposely or knowingly uses, conceals, or abandons the property in a manner that deprives the owner of the property; or

(c) uses, conceals, or abandons the property knowing that the use, concealment, or abandonment probably will deprive the owner of the property.

Montana Code Annotated § 45-6-301(8) further provides that “[a]mounts involved in thefts committed pursuant to a common scheme or the same transaction, whether from the same person or several persons, may be aggregated in determining the value of the property.”

As provided by Mont. Code Ann. § 45-6-301(7)(b)(i), theft of property with a value exceeding \$1,500 but less than \$5,000 constitutes a felony offense.

Montana Code Annotated § 45-2-101(8) defines a common scheme as “a series of acts or omissions resulting in a pecuniary loss to the victim of at least \$1,500, or \$1,500 in value, motivated by a purpose to accomplish a single criminal objective or by a common purpose or plan that results in the repeated commission of the same offense or that affects the same person or the same persons or the property of the same person or persons.”

The testimony and evidence at trial proved that Wolfchild entered Scheels on June 7, selected a box of fishing line and an arrow rest, carried them to an area in the store where he was momentarily out of the view of the surveillance cameras, and, when he returned to view, he was no longer carrying the items. Loss prevention employees searched the vicinity and did not locate the items. This evidence was sufficient for a rational trier of fact to infer that Wolfchild concealed the items in his shorts when he stepped out of view, especially in light of the surveillance footage from June 6 and 9 that showed he was very fast and efficient at concealing items down his shorts, and that after the items were concealed the surveillance cameras did not show an outline or other indicator of the items' presence.

Furthermore, loss prevention employee Conley testified that on June 7 he and other loss prevention staff watched Wolfchild in real time with the store's interior and exterior surveillance cameras. They observed he was not holding any box when he exited the store and started to walk across the parking lot with Cree Medicine. Conley testified he zoomed a camera in and could very clearly see that Wolfchild was holding a box that exactly matched the box of the arrow rest that he had selected that day and that he had been carrying when he walked briefly out of camera view in the store.

Conley continued to zoom in and follow Wolfchild and Cree Medicine as they approached the pawn shop across the street, and, based on his training and experience, Conley testified that he observed Wolfchild moving in a manner that was entirely consistent with him handing the box to Cree Medicine or putting it in her bag/purse. Moreover, after Cree Medicine entered the pawn shop alone, there is no dispute that she pawned an arrow rest that matched the one Wolfchild had selected, walked out of camera view with, and, after exiting the store, could clearly be seen holding while walking toward the pawn shop.

Wolfchild challenges the sufficiency of the evidence concerning: (1) the box containing an arrow rest (valued at \$279.99) that Cree Medicine pawned on June 7, and (2) the two boxes containing arrow rests (total value of \$529.98) and one box of fly-fishing line (valued at \$129) that Cree Medicine attempted to return to Scheels for a refund on June 10. Officer Wavra testified at trial that Wolfchild had admitted he was the one who stole the two arrow rests that Cree Medicine attempted to return on June 10. Although he did not testify at trial, Wolfchild asserts on appeal, without support in the record, that he did not make this admission. Even without Wolfchild's admission to Officer Wavra, the other evidence the State presented established beyond a reasonable doubt that the arrow rests Cree Medicine attempted to return exactly matched the arrow rests the surveillance footage clearly shows Wolfchild stealing on June 9.

Wolfchild challenges the sufficiency of evidence related to the incident on June 7, arguing that surveillance cameras did not capture footage of him actually concealing the merchandise that he had selected that day. However, while the surveillance cameras did not capture him concealing the boxes on his person, they captured footage of Wolfchild selecting two boxes, one containing fishing line and the other containing an arrow rest, walking to another area inside the store while still holding the boxes in his hand, stepping momentarily out of view of the cameras, then returning to view but no longer holding the boxes in his hands. Loss prevention employees subsequently searched the surrounding area and did not locate either box. This is sufficient circumstantial evidence for a rational trier of fact to infer that Wolfchild concealed the boxes on his person while momentarily out of camera view.

The strong circumstantial evidence that Wolfchild concealed the items when he stepped out of camera view is not the only evidence from which a rational trier of fact could have determined Wolfchild committed the June 7 portion of the common scheme theft. Loss prevention employees also observed Wolfchild by camera in real time as he exited the store, observed that he was not holding any boxes in his hands as he exited, zoomed an exterior camera in on him and Cree Medicine as they were walking away, and captured footage of Wolfchild holding a

box that matched the one that he had selected and had been carrying inside the store as he walked out of camera view.

Additionally, as Wolfchild and Cree Medicine approached the pawn shop, loss prevention employee Conley watched the footage from the zoomed-in camera and, despite the footage being less clear than when they were closer to the store, he observed movement by Wolfchild consistent with giving or handing something to Cree Medicine or placing it in her bag/purse before she entered the pawn shop. Moreover, the arrow rest Cree Medicine pawned on June 7 after she entered the pawn shop alone and the fishing line she attempted to return to Scheel's on June 10 matched the two items Wolfchild had selected on June 7 and had been holding when he briefly walked out of camera view.

When reviewing the totality the evidence de novo in a light most favorable to the prosecution, the State presented sufficient evidence upon which a rational trier of fact could find Wolfchild guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, not only of the thefts he admitted to committing on June 6 and June 9, but also the theft he committed on June 7 as part of the theft by common scheme. *Burnett*, ¶ 15. Wolfchild's theory, that Cree Medicine had the opportunity to steal the items from June 7—especially since she is the person who pawned an item and attempted to return other items—and that could have supported a different result, “is immaterial to this Court's review” of the sufficiency of the evidence. *Id.* (citing *State v.*

*Weigand*, 2005 MT 201, ¶ 7, 328 Mont. 198, 119 P.3d 74). Aggregating the value of the items stolen by Wolfchild on June 7 with the value of the items he admitted to stealing on June 6 and 9 resulted in a loss to Scheels of \$1,500 or greater, thereby meeting the value necessary to qualify under Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(8) as a common scheme and under Mont. Code Ann. § 45-6-301(7)(b)(i) as a felony.

**III. Wolfchild does not meet his burden to firmly convince this Court to invoke plain error review of his claim that the State was required to charge him with separate misdemeanor thefts instead of a single charge of felony theft by common scheme.**

For the first time on appeal, Wolfchild argues that by failing to charge him separately for each predicate offense the State included under the common scheme charge, the State “created a miscarriage of justice and raises the question of fundamental fairness in the trial and proceedings.” (Appellant’s Br. at 15.) He argues that “[n]ot one offense alleged in the State’s information and affidavit meets the monetary element for a felony, only [by] combining all three offenses could the offenses be a felony.” (*Id.* at 17.) Wolfchild asserts that “[h]ad the State specifically pleaded each offense as individual counts [he] would have benefited by having the possibility of being convicted of a misdemeanor.” (*Id.*) Thus he urges plain error review is warranted.

In support of this argument, Wolfchild quotes from *State v. Rowe*, 2024 MT 37, ¶ 20, 415 Mont. 280, 543 P.3d 614.<sup>3</sup> The issue in *Rowe*, however, was whether the district court erred in admitting evidence of subsequent uncharged acts of sexual assault as proof of a motive or plan to commit a number of earlier sexual assaults that the State had charged as a common scheme. *Id.* ¶ 18. The Court held that the charge of sexual assault by common scheme was a “fictional offense that is not cognizable under Montana law” and further held that *common scheme offenses are exclusive to property crimes* resulting in a pecuniary loss to the victim. *Id.* ¶¶ 20, 22.

The Court explained in *Rowe* that, when the State charges repeated property crimes (the predicate offenses) under the umbrella offense of common scheme, the State must specifically identify each predicate offense individually in the charging documents and, at trial, the verdict or court finding must state the individual finding for each predicate offense. In this case, the Information and Motion for Leave to File Information Direct and Affidavit in Support (Appellant’s App. 2)

---

<sup>3</sup> Wolfchild also cited *State v. Cazier* in support of his argument but incorrectly cited it in the body of the brief and the table of authorities as 2019 MT 259. The correct citation is 2019 MT 259N, 398 Mont. 445, 455 P.3d 453, an unpublished opinion, and like all unpublished opinions this Court issues, pursuant to Section I, Paragraph 3(c)(ii), of the Montana Supreme Court Internal Operating Rules, it is expressly stated that the opinion “shall not be citable as binding precedent.” See also *State v. Oie*, 2007 MT 328, ¶ 16, 340 Mont. 205, 174 P.3d 937; *State v. Ferre*, 2014 MT 96, ¶ 15, 374 Mont. 428, 322 P.3d 1047; *State v. Kortan*, 2022 MT 204, ¶ 19 fn. 2, 410 Mont. 336, 518 P.3d 1283.

described the umbrella offense (felony theft by common scheme) and each of the predicate offenses that the State included under that umbrella: (1) two separate thefts on June 6, two items stolen each time, total value of \$736.92, and, later that same day, a fraudulent return of the stolen items for a gift card refund in the same amount; (2) one theft of two items on June 7 valued at \$409.98; and (3) a theft of two items valued at \$529.98 on an unspecified date that Wolfchild admitted to the officer he had committed (and for which additional review of video surveillance footage by loss prevention staff identified the date as June 9). As charged, each of the predicate offenses were specifically identified and described in an individual paragraph, and as aggregated under the common scheme umbrella stated that the value of the items stolen exceeded \$1,500. (*Id.*) Similarly, the district court, as the trier of fact, expressly identified the date and valuation of each predicate offense and found Wolfchild guilty of each predicate offense beyond a reasonable doubt under the common scheme umbrella. (Appellant’s App. 1.)

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